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§ 160.316 Refraining from intimidation 
or retaliation. 

A covered entity may not threaten, 
intimidate, coerce, harass, discrimi-
nate against, or take any other retalia-
tory action against any individual or 
other person for— 

(a) Filing of a complaint under 
§ 160.306; 

(b) Testifying, assisting, or partici-
pating in an investigation, compliance 
review, proceeding, or hearing under 
this part; or 

(c) Opposing any act or practice made 
unlawful by this subchapter, provided 
the individual or person has a good 
faith belief that the practice opposed is 
unlawful, and the manner of opposition 
is reasonable and does not involve a 
disclosure of protected health informa-
tion in violation of subpart E of part 
164 of this subchapter. 

Subpart D—Imposition of Civil 
Money Penalties 

SOURCE: 71 FR 8426, Feb. 16, 2006, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 160.400 Applicability. 

This subpart applies to the imposi-
tion of a civil money penalty by the 
Secretary under 42 U.S.C. 1320d–5. 

§ 160.401 Definitions. 

As used in this subpart, the following 
terms have the following meanings: 

Reasonable cause means cir-
cumstances that would make it unrea-
sonable for the covered entity, despite 
the exercise of ordinary business care 
and prudence, to comply with the ad-
ministrative simplification provision 
violated. 

Reasonable diligence means the busi-
ness care and prudence expected from a 
person seeking to satisfy a legal re-
quirement under similar cir-
cumstances. 

Willful neglect means conscious, in-
tentional failure or reckless indiffer-
ence to the obligation to comply with 
the administrative simplification pro-
vision violated. 

[74 FR 56130, Oct. 30, 2009] 

§ 160.402 Basis for a civil money pen-
alty. 

(a) General rule. Subject to § 160.410, 
the Secretary will impose a civil 
money penalty upon a covered entity if 
the Secretary determines that the cov-
ered entity has violated an administra-
tive simplification provision. 

(b) Violation by more than one covered 
entity. (1) Except as provided in para-
graph (b)(2) of this section, if the Sec-
retary determines that more than one 
covered entity was responsible for a 
violation, the Secretary will impose a 
civil money penalty against each such 
covered entity. 

(2) A covered entity that is a member 
of an affiliated covered entity, in ac-
cordance with § 164.105(b) of this sub-
chapter, is jointly and severally liable 
for a civil money penalty for a viola-
tion of part 164 of this subchapter 
based on an act or omission of the af-
filiated covered entity, unless it is es-
tablished that another member of the 
affiliated covered entity was respon-
sible for the violation. 

(c) Violation attributed to a covered en-
tity. A covered entity is liable, in ac-
cordance with the federal common law 
of agency, for a civil money penalty for 
a violation based on the act or omis-
sion of any agent of the covered entity, 
including a workforce member, acting 
within the scope of the agency, un-
less— 

(1) The agent is a business associate 
of the covered entity; 

(2) The covered entity has complied, 
with respect to such business associate, 
with the applicable requirements of 
§§ 164.308(b) and 164.502(e) of this sub-
chapter; and 

(3) The covered entity did not— 
(i) Know of a pattern of activity or 

practice of the business associate, and 
(ii) Fail to act as required by 

§§ 164.314(a)(1)(ii) and 164.504(e)(1)(ii) of 
this subchapter, as applicable. 

§ 160.404 Amount of a civil money pen-
alty. 

(a) The amount of a civil money pen-
alty will be determined in accordance 
with paragraph (b) of this section and 
§§ 160.406, 160.408, and 160.412. 

(b) The amount of a civil money pen-
alty that may be imposed is subject to 
the following limitations: 
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(1) For violations occurring prior to 
February 18, 2009, the Secretary may 
not impose a civil money penalty— 

(i) In the amount of more than $100 
for each violation; or 

(ii) In excess of $25,000 for identical 
violations during a calendar year (Jan-
uary 1 through the following December 
31); 

(2) For violations occurring on or 
after February 18, 2009, the Secretary 
may not impose a civil money pen-
alty— 

(i) For a violation in which it is es-
tablished that the covered entity did 
not know and, by exercising reasonable 
diligence, would not have known that 
the covered entity violated such provi-
sion, 

(A) In the amount of less than $100 or 
more than $50,000 for each violation; or 

(B) In excess of $1,500,000 for identical 
violations during a calendar year (Jan-
uary 1 through the following December 
31); 

(ii) For a violation in which it is es-
tablished that the violation was due to 
reasonable cause and not to willful ne-
glect, 

(A) In the amount of less than $1,000 
or more than $50,000 for each violation; 
or 

(B) In excess of $1,500,000 for identical 
violations during a calendar year (Jan-
uary 1 through the following December 
31); 

(iii) For a violation in which it is es-
tablished that the violation was due to 
willful neglect and was corrected dur-
ing the 30-day period beginning on the 
first date the covered entity liable for 
the penalty knew, or, by exercising 
reasonable diligence, would have 
known that the violation occurred, 

(A) In the amount of less than $10,000 
or more than $50,000 for each violation; 
or 

(B) In excess of $1,500,000 for identical 
violations during a calendar year (Jan-
uary 1 through the following December 
31); 

(iv) For a violation in which it is es-
tablished that the violation was due to 
willful neglect and was not corrected 
during the 30-day period beginning on 
the first date the covered entity liable 
for the penalty knew, or, by exercising 
reasonable diligence, would have 
known that the violation occurred, 

(A) In the amount of less than $50,000 
for each violation; or 

(B) In excess of $1,500,000 for identical 
violations during a calendar year (Jan-
uary 1 through the following December 
31). 

(3) If a requirement or prohibition in 
one administrative simplification pro-
vision is repeated in a more general 
form in another administrative sim-
plification provision in the same sub-
part, a civil money penalty may be im-
posed for a violation of only one of 
these administrative simplification 
provisions. 

[71 FR 8426, Feb. 16, 2006, as amended at 74 
FR 56130, Oct. 30, 2009] 

§ 160.406 Violations of an identical re-
quirement or prohibition. 

The Secretary will determine the 
number of violations of an administra-
tive simplification provision based on 
the nature of the covered entity’s obli-
gation to act or not act under the pro-
vision that is violated, such as its obli-
gation to act in a certain manner, or 
within a certain time, or to act or not 
act with respect to certain persons. In 
the case of continuing violation of a 
provision, a separate violation occurs 
each day the covered entity is in viola-
tion of the provision. 

§ 160.408 Factors considered in deter-
mining the amount of a civil money 
penalty. 

In determining the amount of any 
civil money penalty, the Secretary 
may consider as aggravating or miti-
gating factors, as appropriate, any of 
the following: 

(a) The nature of the violation, in 
light of the purpose of the rule vio-
lated. 

(b) The circumstances, including the 
consequences, of the violation, includ-
ing but not limited to: 

(1) The time period during which the 
violation(s) occurred; 

(2) Whether the violation caused 
physical harm; 

(3) Whether the violation hindered or 
facilitated an individual’s ability to 
obtain health care; and 

(4) Whether the violation resulted in 
financial harm. 
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(c) The degree of culpability of the 
covered entity, including but not lim-
ited to: 

(1) Whether the violation was inten-
tional; and 

(2) Whether the violation was beyond 
the direct control of the covered enti-
ty. 

(d) Any history of prior compliance 
with the administrative simplification 
provisions, including violations, by the 
covered entity, including but not lim-
ited to: 

(1) Whether the current violation is 
the same or similar to prior viola-
tion(s); 

(2) Whether and to what extent the 
covered entity has attempted to cor-
rect previous violations; 

(3) How the covered entity has re-
sponded to technical assistance from 
the Secretary provided in the context 
of a compliance effort; and 

(4) How the covered entity has re-
sponded to prior complaints. 

(e) The financial condition of the 
covered entity, including but not lim-
ited to: 

(1) Whether the covered entity had fi-
nancial difficulties that affected its 
ability to comply; 

(2) Whether the imposition of a civil 
money penalty would jeopardize the 
ability of the covered entity to con-
tinue to provide, or to pay for, health 
care; and 

(3) The size of the covered entity. 
(f) Such other matters as justice may 

require. 

§ 160.410 Affirmative defenses. 
(a) For violations occurring prior to 

February 18, 2009, the Secretary may 
not impose a civil money penalty on a 
covered entity for a violation if the 
covered entity establishes that an af-
firmative defense exists with respect to 
the violations, including the following: 

(1) The violation is an act punishable 
under 42 U.S.C. 1320d–6; 

(2) The covered entity establishes, to 
the satisfaction of the Secretary, that 
it did not have knowledge of the viola-
tion, determined in accordance with 
the federal common law of agency, and, 
by exercising reasonable diligence, 
would not have known that the viola-
tion occurred; or 

(3) The violation is— 

(i) Due to reasonable cause and not 
willful neglect; and 

(ii) Corrected during either: 
(A) The 30-day period beginning on 

the first date the covered entity liable 
for the penalty knew, or by exercising 
reasonable diligence would have 
known, that the violation occurred; or 

(B) Such additional period as the 
Secretary determines to be appropriate 
based on the nature and extent of the 
failure to comply. 

(b) For violations occurring on or 
after February 18, 2009, the Secretary 
may not impose a civil money penalty 
on a covered entity for a violation if 
the covered entity establishes that an 
affirmative defense exists with respect 
to the violations, including the fol-
lowing: 

(1) The violation is an act punishable 
under 42 U.S.C. 1320d–6; or 

(2) The covered entity establishes to 
the satisfaction of the Secretary that 
the violation is— 

(i) Not due to willful neglect; and 
(ii) Corrected during either: 
(A) The 30-day period beginning on 

the first date the covered entity liable 
for the penalty knew, or, by exercising 
reasonable diligence, would have 
known that the violation occurred; or 

(B) Such additional period as the 
Secretary determines to be appropriate 
based on the nature and extent of the 
failure to comply. 

[74 FR 56131, Oct. 30, 2009] 

§ 160.412 Waiver. 

For violations due to reasonable 
cause and not willful neglect that are 
not corrected within the period de-
scribed in § 160.410(a)(3)(ii) or (b)(2)(ii), 
as applicable, the Secretary may waive 
the civil money penalty, in whole or in 
part, to the extent that the payment of 
the penalty would be excessive relative 
to the violation. 

[74 FR 56131, Oct. 30, 2009] 

§ 160.414 Limitations. 

No action under this subpart may be 
entertained unless commenced by the 
Secretary, in accordance with § 160.420, 
within 6 years from the date of the oc-
currence of the violation. 
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§ 160.416 Authority to settle. 
Nothing in this subpart limits the 

authority of the Secretary to settle 
any issue or case or to compromise any 
penalty. 

§ 160.418 Penalty not exclusive. 
Except as otherwise provided by 42 

U.S.C. 1320d-5(b)(1), a penalty imposed 
under this part is in addition to any 
other penalty prescribed by law. 

§ 160.420 Notice of proposed deter-
mination. 

(a) If a penalty is proposed in accord-
ance with this part, the Secretary 
must deliver, or send by certified mail 
with return receipt requested, to the 
respondent, written notice of the Sec-
retary’s intent to impose a penalty. 
This notice of proposed determination 
must include— 

(1) Reference to the statutory basis 
for the penalty; 

(2) A description of the findings of 
fact regarding the violations with re-
spect to which the penalty is proposed 
(except that, in any case where the 
Secretary is relying upon a statistical 
sampling study in accordance with 
§ 160.536 of this part, the notice must 
provide a copy of the study relied upon 
by the Secretary); 

(3) The reason(s) why the violation(s) 
subject(s) the respondent to a penalty; 

(4) The amount of the proposed pen-
alty and a reference to the subpara-
graph of § 160.404 upon which it is based. 

(5) Any circumstances described in 
§ 160.408 that were considered in deter-
mining the amount of the proposed 
penalty; and 

(6) Instructions for responding to the 
notice, including a statement of the re-
spondent’s right to a hearing, a state-
ment that failure to request a hearing 
within 90 days permits the imposition 
of the proposed penalty without the 
right to a hearing under § 160.504 or a 
right of appeal under § 160.548 of this 
part, and the address to which the 
hearing request must be sent. 

(b) The respondent may request a 
hearing before an ALJ on the proposed 
penalty by filing a request in accord-
ance with § 160.504 of this part. 

[71 FR 8426, Feb. 16, 2006, as amended at 74 
FR 56131, Oct. 30, 2009] 

§ 160.422 Failure to request a hearing. 

If the respondent does not request a 
hearing within the time prescribed by 
§ 160.504 of this part and the matter is 
not settled pursuant to § 160.416, the 
Secretary will impose the proposed 
penalty or any lesser penalty per-
mitted by 42 U.S.C. 1320d–5. The Sec-
retary will notify the respondent by 
certified mail, return receipt re-
quested, of any penalty that has been 
imposed and of the means by which the 
respondent may satisfy the penalty, 
and the penalty is final on receipt of 
the notice. The respondent has no right 
to appeal a penalty under § 160.548 of 
this part with respect to which the re-
spondent has not timely requested a 
hearing. 

§ 160.424 Collection of penalty. 

(a) Once a determination of the Sec-
retary to impose a penalty has become 
final, the penalty will be collected by 
the Secretary, subject to the first sen-
tence of 42 U.S.C. 1320a–7a(f). 

(b) The penalty may be recovered in 
a civil action brought in the United 
States district court for the district 
where the respondent resides, is found, 
or is located. 

(c) The amount of a penalty, when fi-
nally determined, or the amount 
agreed upon in compromise, may be de-
ducted from any sum then or later 
owing by the United States, or by a 
State agency, to the respondent. 

(d) Matters that were raised or that 
could have been raised in a hearing be-
fore an ALJ, or in an appeal under 42 
U.S.C. 1320a–7a(e), may not be raised as 
a defense in a civil action by the 
United States to collect a penalty 
under this part. 

§ 160.426 Notification of the public and 
other agencies. 

Whenever a proposed penalty be-
comes final, the Secretary will notify, 
in such manner as the Secretary deems 
appropriate, the public and the fol-
lowing organizations and entities 
thereof and the reason it was imposed: 
the appropriate State or local medical 
or professional organization, the appro-
priate State agency or agencies admin-
istering or supervising the administra-
tion of State health care programs (as 
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defined in 42 U.S.C. 1320a–7(h)), the ap-
propriate utilization and quality con-
trol peer review organization, and the 
appropriate State or local licensing 
agency or organization (including the 
agency specified in 42 U.S.C. 1395aa(a), 
1396a(a)(33)). 

Subpart E—Procedures for 
Hearings 

SOURCE: 71 FR 8428, Feb. 16, 2006, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 160.500 Applicability. 
This subpart applies to hearings con-

ducted relating to the imposition of a 
civil money penalty by the Secretary 
under 42 U.S.C. 1320d–5. 

§ 160.502 Definitions. 
As used in this subpart, the following 

term has the following meaning: 
Board means the members of the HHS 

Departmental Appeals Board, in the Of-
fice of the Secretary, who issue deci-
sions in panels of three. 

§ 160.504 Hearing before an ALJ. 
(a) A respondent may request a hear-

ing before an ALJ. The parties to the 
hearing proceeding consist of— 

(1) The respondent; and 
(2) The officer(s) or employee(s) of 

HHS to whom the enforcement author-
ity involved has been delegated. 

(b) The request for a hearing must be 
made in writing signed by the respond-
ent or by the respondent’s attorney and 
sent by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, to the address specified in 
the notice of proposed determination. 
The request for a hearing must be 
mailed within 90 days after notice of 
the proposed determination is received 
by the respondent. For purposes of this 
section, the respondent’s date of re-
ceipt of the notice of proposed deter-
mination is presumed to be 5 days after 
the date of the notice unless the re-
spondent makes a reasonable showing 
to the contrary to the ALJ. 

(c) The request for a hearing must 
clearly and directly admit, deny, or ex-
plain each of the findings of fact con-
tained in the notice of proposed deter-
mination with regard to which the re-
spondent has any knowledge. If the re-

spondent has no knowledge of a par-
ticular finding of fact and so states, 
the finding shall be deemed denied. The 
request for a hearing must also state 
the circumstances or arguments that 
the respondent alleges constitute the 
grounds for any defense and the factual 
and legal basis for opposing the pen-
alty, except that a respondent may 
raise an affirmative defense under 
§ 160.410(b)(1) at any time. 

(d) The ALJ must dismiss a hearing 
request where— 

(1) On motion of the Secretary, the 
ALJ determines that the respondent’s 
hearing request is not timely filed as 
required by paragraphs (b) or does not 
meet the requirements of paragraph (c) 
of this section; 

(2) The respondent withdraws the re-
quest for a hearing; 

(3) The respondent abandons the re-
quest for a hearing; or 

(4) The respondent’s hearing request 
fails to raise any issue that may prop-
erly be addressed in a hearing. 

§ 160.506 Rights of the parties. 

(a) Except as otherwise limited by 
this subpart, each party may— 

(1) Be accompanied, represented, and 
advised by an attorney; 

(2) Participate in any conference held 
by the ALJ; 

(3) Conduct discovery of documents 
as permitted by this subpart; 

(4) Agree to stipulations of fact or 
law that will be made part of the 
record; 

(5) Present evidence relevant to the 
issues at the hearing; 

(6) Present and cross-examine wit-
nesses; 

(7) Present oral arguments at the 
hearing as permitted by the ALJ; and 

(8) Submit written briefs and pro-
posed findings of fact and conclusions 
of law after the hearing. 

(b) A party may appear in person or 
by a representative. Natural persons 
who appear as an attorney or other 
representative must conform to the 
standards of conduct and ethics re-
quired of practitioners before the 
courts of the United States. 

(c) Fees for any services performed 
on behalf of a party by an attorney are 
not subject to the provisions of 42 
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